IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC02-371

LLOYD CHASE ALLEN,

Appellant.

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAN D. HALLENBERG Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No.: 0940615

KENNETH M. MALNIK Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No.: 351415

NEAL A. DUPREE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284; FAX (954) 713-1299

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- Point I : The Lower Court Erred in Summarily Denying Mr. Allen's Claim that Critical, Exculpatory Evidence was not Presented In Violation of <u>Brady V. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)
- Point II : The Lower Court Erred in Summarily Denying Mr. Allen's Claim that Mr. Allen Received Ineffective Assistance of Counsel In The Guilt Phase of His Trial
- Point III: Error to Deny Evidentiary Hearing on Mr. Allen's Involuntary Waiver of Mitigation.
- Point IV : Error to Deny Evidentiary Hearing on the Denial of Mr. Allen's Right to Competent Mental Health Assistance.
- Point V : Error to Deny Evidentiary Hearing on Claim That Mr. Allen Innocent of the Death Penalty.
- Point VI : Error to Deny Evidentiary Hearing on Claim That Trial Counsel Failed to Challenge State's Evidence and Object to Unconstitutional Jury Instructions.
- Point VII: Trial Court Erred In Denying Postconviction Counsel's Request to Interview Jurors; The Rules Prohibiting Appellant's Lawyers From Interviewing Jurors are Unconstitutional.
- Point VIII: Florida's Capital Sentencing Statute is Unconstitutional.
- Point IX : Mr. Allen is Being Denied His Right to Effective Representation By The Lack of Funding Available to Fully Investigate and Prepare His Postconviction Pleadings. Under staffing, and the Unprecedented Workload on Present Counsel and Staff.
- Point X : Procedural and Substantive Errors Which as a Whole Deprived Mr. Allen of a Fair Trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Allen was charged with kidnaping, grand theft auto, grand theft, robbery with a deadly weapon, and first-degree murder (R. 4-5). The defense motion for judgment of acquittal was granted on two charges, robbery with a deadly weapon and grant theft (R. 531). The jury acquitted Mr. Allen of kidnaping and convicted him of car theft and murder (R. 655).

This is a case about a ridiculous suicide defense. The medical examiner testified that the victim's legs and arms were tied, and the victim was alive when she was repeatedly stabbed (TRT 412-15). Nevertheless, defense counsel suggested in cross-examination that it was possible that Ms. Cribbs killed herself (TRT 428). However, the medical examiner explained how unlikely that was due to the nature of the wounds that Ms. Cribbs would stab herself (TRT 429-30). All the evidence from witnesses indicated that Ms. Cribbs appeared incredibly happy with Mr. Allen (TRT 182, 89, 93, 201, 02, 10, 11). Nevertheless, defense counsel suggested with no testimony to support it that Ms. Cribbs was so devastated by a con man that she killed herself (TRT 569, 65, 607).

The jury did not hear any incriminating statements by Mr. Allen. Nor was the jury presented with any physical testimony linking Mr.

Allen to a knife found in Ms. Cribbs house that could have been the murder weapon (TRT 319).

This Court summarized the facts on direct appeal:

1

Cribbs left her home in Ohio to drive to Florida in November, 1991. She apparently met Allen at a truck stop in Atlanta. Allen accompanied Cribbs during her visit with friends in Jacksonville Beach and during a stop in Bunnell to set her trailer.

Allen, whom Cribbs introduced as "Lee Brock," told Cribbs' friends in Jacksonville Beach and Bunnell that he owned a ranch in Texas and a trucking rig. Cribbs told the friends that she was going into the trucking business with Allen after she sold her trailer in Bunnell and vacation home in Summerland Key. Cribbs was paid \$4100 in hundred dollar bills for the trailer. Allen witnesses this transaction on November 12. The friends in both locations stated that Cribbs was wearing a diamondstudded horseshoe-shaped ring, which was valued at \$8,000.

A man working at the house across the street from Cribbs' Summerland Key house saw her exit and reenter the house early on the morning of November 13. He also observed Allen exit and re-enter the house around 11 a.m. The worker left for lunch at 11:45 a.m. When he returned a little after 1 p.m., the worker noticed that Cribbs' 1988 Ford Taurus was gone.

The real estate agent who managed Cribbs' property arrived between 12:30 and 1 p.m. to investigate Cribbs' unexpected arrival at the house. When no one responded to his knocks, the agent used his own key to enter the house. The television set, which was on high volume, was emitting loud static and a snowy picture. The coffee pot was turned on and half-full. The agent discovered Cribbs' body on the floor of the master bedroom. She was lying face down on a pillow and her body was surrounded by a puddle of blood.

The medical examiner placed the time of death between 4 a.m. and 2 p.m. on November 13. There were two stab wounds to the right side of Cribbs' face, ligature marks on her wrists and ankles, and a stab would to her left neck that severed the carotid artery. The angle of the neck would indicated that it *326 was inflicted The left stab would as Cribbs lay face down. caused Cribbs to bleed to death. The medical examiner estimated that Cribbs lived for fifteen to thirty minutes after this wound was inflicted and was conscious for fifteen minutes. Based upon the lack of defensive wounds and blood splatter, the medical examiner opined that Cribbs was bound at the time that she was stabbed.

The following items were recovered from the scene: a suitcase containing a blue shirt and a camera loaded with undeveloped film depicting Allen; a pair of grey lizard skin boots; a pair of blue jeans containing a blood stain on the right knee, found at the foot of the bed; a sperm-stained hand towel, found by the side of the bed; a piece of window sash cord found under Cribbs' left arm consistent with the ligature marks and also consistent with a cord that had been cut in the spare bedroom; and a sheathed knife and a rag found in the spare bedroom. The contents of Cribbs' purse were scattered across the bed; the \$4100 and diamond ring were missing. There were no signs of forcible entry and no fingerprints of value were found. The interior of the house and its contents appeared to have been wiped clean with a damp rag.

Expert witnesses testified that the body fluids found on the hand towel were consistent with Cribbs' and Allen's blood types and DNA genotypes; the blood on the jeans was consistent with Cribbs' blood. The suitcase, boots, and shirt recovered from the scene were identified by witnesses as items that Allen had or wore in Jacksonville Beach and Bunnell. Pursuant to the State's motion granted by the court, Allen tried on these items of clothing, which, with the exception of the jeans, fit him. Allen's inability to fit into the jeans was explained by a considerable weight gain following his arrest.

A taxi driver testified that he picked up Allen at the Buccaneer Lodge Tiki Lounge between 12:30 and 12:45 p.m. on November 13, that he took Allen to Key Largo, and that

Allen paid the eighty-dollar fare with a hundred-dollar bill. Cribbs' automobile was located in the parking lot of the Buccaneer Lodge on December 23. The car was covered with debris, indicating that it had been parked there for some time. Allen's prints were lifted from the car. A trucker's log book containing a credit card number and a sequence of telephone numbers led the police to Allen's location in California, where he was arrested on February 18, 1992.

What the jury did not learn at trial which was revealed in postconviction investigation was that FDLE had a report with two hairs found in Ms. Cribbs hand that <u>did not</u> match Mr. Allen(PCR 768). That report was not furnished to defense counsel (PCR 768).

The jury also never heard that a report from FDLE found no fingerprints in the Taurus matching Mr. Allen (PCR 768). This report contradicted testimony from Monroe County Sheriff's Office that there was a print in the car matching Mr. Allen (TRT 462-64). Finally, the jury never learned of handwritten notes in the FDLE report that suggested contamination was a problem in the handling of evidence by Monroe County Sheriff's Office (PCR 769).

The jury should have learned of prior inconsistent descriptions by Mr. Woods of the man that he eventually identified at trial as Mr. Allen, but trial counsel failed to effectively impeach Mr. Woods (PCR 783). In addition, trial counsel failed to elicit testimony by Ionia McClain that would have bolstered the defense theory that someone else committed the homicide (PCR 794-95).

Prior to the start of the penalty phase, trial counsel moved to withdraw and Mr. Allen made known his intention to waive the presentation of mitigation to the jury (TRT 659-71). The trial court made no inquiry whatsoever into Mr. Allen's knowledge or understanding of mitigation in general or mitigation specifically applicable to his case (TRT 661-73). Instead, the court conducted a standard <u>Faretta</u> inquiry and concluded that Mr. Allen had knowingly waived his right to counsel for the purposes of the penalty phase (TRT 661-73). After subsequent competency evaluations and related testimony, the court concluded Mr. Allen was competent to proceed (TRT 684-95). Neither of the two experts appointed to evaluate Mr. Allen for competency knew that he intended to waive all mitigation and affirmatively ask for the death penalty or were even asked if this would have had an effect on their opinions (TRT 687, 694).

Mr. Allen, representing himself, thereafter presented no mitigation evidence to the penalty phase jury, disavowed the existence of mitigation, and asked the jury to vote for death. <u>See</u> <u>Allen</u>, 662 So. 2d at 327. Relevant to the jury's penalty phase recommendation, Dr. Robert Nelms had testified during the guilt/innocence phase of the trial that the cause of death in this case was the knife wound to the carotid artery (TRT 417). He further testified that it would have taken 15 to 30 minutes for the victim to bleed to death (TRT 419-20). When asked how long the victim would have remained conscious, he testified, "**It's just a guess**, but I would estimate fairly close to the 15 minutes" (TRT 420)(emphasis added).

The State Attorney relied specifically upon Dr. Nelms' testimony to urge the jury to sentence Mr. Allen to death (TRT 728-9). The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven to one. <u>See Allen</u> at 327.

At the subsequent sentencing hearing before the judge, Mr. Allen abandoned his <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> status and was again represented by Mr. Hooper (TRT 779-812); <u>see Allen</u> at 329. Even though he was now represented by counsel, Mr. Allen again waived his right to present mitigation (TRT 779-812); <u>see Allen</u> at 329. Mr. Hooper this time did not move to withdraw (as he did prior to the penalty phase), but, instead, indicated to the court that he felt compelled to "muzzle"

himself in acquiescence to Mr. Allen's wishes (TRT 802). During the sentencing hearing, Mr. Hooper told the court that he was following Mr. Allen's wishes to not present any mitigation and that, moreover, Mr. Hooper had no mitigation to present anyway because Mr. Allen would not cooperate or provide information relative to mitigation (TRT 801-02, 804). At no time during the sentencing hearing did the trial court make any inquiry of Mr. Allen regarding his desire not to present mitigation during the sentencing hearing (TRT 804-10). Furthermore, as the record reflects and as this Court held on direct appeal:

> Although the judge asked defense counsel whether he had informed Allen about the statutory mitigating factors available, there was no indication that counsel had investigated Allen's background or history to determine whether particular mitigating evidence was available. Counsel also made no proffer of mitigating evidence that could be presented to the court.

<u>Allen</u>, 662 So. 2d at 329.

The State Attorney again relied on Dr. Nelms' testimony during the sentencing hearing, this time to urge the judge to impose the death penalty:

> Here we are in the final argument to you to apply the death penalty. And the last thing I want you to consider, judge, if you will, is heinousness of the crime. I would like you to remember Dr. Nelms' testimony that the witness was alive for 30 minutes after she was stabbed and she was conscious for somewhere between 15 and 30 minutes as the blood flowed out of her

mouth . . . This lady laid there tied up, knowing she was dying, blood flowing through her mouth, unable to do a thing about it. Her face was mashed in a pillow and she had no way to seek help. She was just allowed to bleed to death.

(TRT 796-97).

In addition, the trial court relied on this testimony as the sole support for the heinous, atrocious, and cruel aggravating factor:

Further, the Court finds the aggravating circumstance that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel in that the Court finds it extremely wicked, shocking, evil, vile and with a high degree of indifference to the suffering that the victim was mortally wounded and thereafter it took from fifteen to thirty minutes for death to occur. There being unrefuted testimony in the record that the victim would have been conscious and aware of her circumstances for upwards of fifteen minutes prior to losing consciousness.

(TRT 239). The Florida Supreme Court on direct appeal relied on Dr. Nelms' testimony to uphold the HAC aggravator. <u>Allen v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 323, 331 (Fla. 1995).

Mr. Allen's certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Allen v. Florida</u>, cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1107 (1996).

Mr. Allen filed his final amended motion for post-conviction relief on March 16, 2001 (PCR 873-74). The Court issued a written summary denial on December 17, 2001 (PCR 1026-1087).

Mr. Allen filed a timely notice of appeal on January 14, 2002

(PCR 1344). This appeal from the trial court's summary denial of Mr. Allen's initial motion for post-conviction relief follows.

ARGUMENT POINT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MR. ALLEN'S CLAIM THAT CRITICAL, EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE WAS NOT PRESENTED IN VIOLATION OF BRADY V. MARYLAND, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

There was much more to the Cribbs murder than was ever revealed to the jury at Mr. Allen's trial. Indeed, there was much more than was revealed to Mr. Allen's trial attorney.

1. WITHHELD FDLE REPORT CONCERNING HAIRS FOUND IN VICTIM'S HANDS

The lower court erred by summarily denying Mr. Allen's first claim that the State failed to disclose exculpatory evidence (PCR 1041-1044). Specifically, the FDLE's report uncovered in postconviction investigation revealed that hairs found in or on the victim's hand did not match the Defendant's hair (PCR 768). In <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1555 (1995), the United States Supreme Court set out the law regarding <u>Brady</u> and its progeny. Kyles was granted relief due to the State's withholding of favorable information from the defense, which taken as a whole raised a reasonable probability that disclosure would have produced a different result. The cumulative effect of the withheld information undermined the confidence in the verdict.

The court in Kyles discussed the interrelationship of Brady, Agurs, and Bagley. In so doing, the court recited the law of stating ". . .the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment". Kyles at 1558. The court further explained " . . . a showing of materiality does not require demonstration by a preponderance that disclosure of the suppressed evidence would have resulted ultimately in the defendant's acquittal . . ." <u>Kyles</u>, at 1566 (citations omitted). The court also stated: "The question is not whether the defendant would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence". <u>Kyles</u>, at 1566. The court emphasized that materiality was not a sufficiency of the evidence test. "A defendant need not demonstrate that after discounting the inculpatory evidence in light of the undisclosed evidence, there would not have been enough to convict". Kyles at The court stated further that once <u>Bagley</u> materiality is 1566. shown, "there is no need for further harmless-error review." Kyles, at 1567. Regarding the State's obligation the Court stated ". . . the prosecution's responsibility for failing to disclose known, favorable evidence rising to a material level of importance is inescapable." Kyles at 1567-1568.Kyles also requires a

cumulative evaluation of the evidence. <u>Kyles</u>, at 1569. A cumulative evaluation of the evidence withheld in Mr. Allen's case clearly demonstrates that it had an impact upon the effectiveness of trial preparation, investigation, strategy, cross-examination and development of the defense case.

The lower court attempts to distinguish this case from <u>Hoffman</u> <u>v. State</u>, 800 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 2001)(PCR 1043-1049). However, the lower court failed to note that the most critical distinction between Hoffman and the instant case is that Hoffman appeals the trial court's denial, after an evidentiary hearing of postconviction relief, and Mr. Allen was denied an evidentiary hearing. <u>Id</u>. at 175,176 Hoffman was granted a new trial because this court ruled that the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing demonstrates the State withheld exculpatory evidence and there is a reasonable probability that had the defense known of this information, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>Id</u>. at 180, 182.

The lower court's erroneous summary denial of a hearing in the instant case is contrary to this court's ruling in <u>Way v. State</u>, 630 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 1993). This court held:

On appeal, Way argues that an evidentiary hearing is warranted to clear up disputed issues of fact surrounding the photographs and to allow Way to try to substantiate his claims. We agree. There has been no evidentiary determination of whether there was an improper withholding of the photographs and whether, even if there was, it would have affected the outcome of Way's trial. We are unable to conclusively determine from the record that this "new evidence could not support an alternative theory of the deaths of his wife and daughter and provide a basis on which a jury could find him innocent.

Accordingly, we reverse the summary denied of the motion postconviction relief and remand to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing on Way's allegations. <u>Id.</u> at 178, 179

In the instant case, the evidence of withheld hairs in the victim's hands that do not match the Defendant demonstrates an alternate theory that would provide a basis to find Mr. Allen innocent and necessitates an evidentiary hearing.

Without even conducting an evidentiary hearing, the lower court "notes that the State incorrectly argues that because counsel was put on notice of the State's intention to seek analysis of the hairs, the State had no duty to disclose the results. "This argument is flawed in light of <u>Strickler</u> and <u>Kyles</u>, which squarely place the burden on the State to disclose all information in its possession that is exculpatory." <u>Id.</u>, at 440. (PCR 1044).

The lower court's finding that the State had a duty to disclose the FDLE report of the hair analysis because it is exculpatory is contradicted by the lower court's finding on the preceding page of the lower court's order that "[T]he presence of the hairs in or on the victim's hands neither inculpates nor exculpates the Defendant

(PCR 1043-1044).

In <u>Strickler v. Green</u>, 527 U.S. 263, 144 L. Ed. 2d 286, 11 9 S. Ct. 1936 (1999), the United States Supreme Court held:

> There are three components of a true violation: The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching, that evidence must have been suppressed by the State either willfully or inadvertently, and prejudice must have ensued. <u>Id</u>. at 302.

In the instant case, evidence of hairs found in or near victim's hands of hair not matching the Defendant would be favorable to the defense's position that Mr. Allen did not murder the victim. Therefore, this withheld evidence is exculpatory.

In <u>Hoffman</u>, this Court stated:

[H]owever in order to be entitled to relief based on this nondisclosure, Hoffman must demonstrate that the defense was prejudiced by the State's suppression of evidence. <u>See Strickler</u>, 527 U.S. at 280-82, 119 S. Ct. 1936. To make this determination, the suppressed evidence must be viewed in context with the other evidence that was presented at trial. <u>Id</u>. at 179.

The lower court omits from its analysis of Hoffman "the other evidence linking Hoffman to the crime was his confessions to FBI agents and Jacksonville Beach Police Officer. Hoffman argued at trial that he never made the Jackson, Michigan confession. Additionally, he argued the unrecorded statements given to the Jacksonville Beach police officers resulted from his drug addiction and did not contain any information that had not been published in the papers and known to everyone. Moreover, at the evidentiary hearing, Hoffman presented evidence that another suspect also confessed to the crimes. <u>Id</u>. at 180.

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