#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-371

LLOYD CHASE ALLEN,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MONROE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

#### BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney
General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441

##

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

The lower court also properly denied the proportionality argument. On direct appeal, Defendant argued that this Court

could not conduct a proper proportionality review because of the waiver of mitigation. Initial Brief of Appellant, Florida Supreme Court Case No. 81,639, at 63 n.63. This Court rejected this argument:

In a footnote to this final issue, Allen also that his waiver of mitigation evidence precludes this Court from conducting a proportionality review of the death sentence. As discussed above, we find no error regarding Allen's decision to waive presentation of mitigation evidence affirmatively assert the non-existence of mitigation. Such a valid waiver of mitigation does not preclude Court from conducting the proportionality review. See Hamblen. Moreover, we find that the facts of this case warrant the death imposed and that the sentence proportionate to other sentences of death affirmed by this Court. See, e.g., Carter v. State, 576 So. 2d 1291 (Fla. 1989)(affirming death sentence where the trial court found three aggravating circumstances of committed while under a sentence of imprisonment, committed during a robbery, and prior violent felony one nonstatutory conviction, and mitigating circumstance of a deprived childhood), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 879, 112 S. Ct. 225, 116 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1991).

Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 331-32 (Fla. 1995). As this claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal, the lower court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

Defendant asserts that the procedural bar to this claim should be lifted because of this Court's decision in  $Muhammad\ v$ . State, 782 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 2001). However, this Court

expressly stated that its decision in *Muhammad* only applied prospectively. *Id.* at 365 ("An adoption of a prospective procedure in this case would not call into question those cases that are already final on appeal.") As such, *Muhammad* does not lift the procedural bar.

Even if Muhammad did apply, it did not hold that this Court would no longer allow waivers of mitigation because it precluded proportionality review. Instead, it held that a trial court, presented with a defendant who was waiving mitigation, had to order a PSI and consider all of the evidence in the record and from the PSI to determine if any mitigation existed. Here, the trial court did order a PSI, did consider the PSI and all record evidence regarding whether any mitigation existed and, in fact, did find mitigation based on its review of the record and PSI. (R. 239-41) As such, the requirement of Muhammad would be met even if it did apply. See Overton v. State, 801 So. 2d 877 (Fla. 2001). The lower court's denial of this claim should be affirmed.

#### VI. THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court improperly summarily denied his claim that counsel was ineffective at the Spencer hearing. He asserts that counsel should have investigated and presented evidence that Defendant had registered at the Buccaneer Lodge, that counsel should have objected to the introduction of a radio interview he had given, that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to alleged violations of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985), and that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a comment during the State's penalty phase closing argument. However, the lower court properly rejected these claims.

While Defendant asserts that had counsel investigated the records of the Buccaneer Hotel, he could show that Defendant had registered at the hotel, which would have allegedly showed that Det. Glover's testimony was false. However, Detective Glover did not testify that there was no evidence that Defendant was at the lodge. Instead, the testimony was:

[The State:] Did you check the records to find out if Dortha's Cribbs' car was registered to the Buccaneer Lodge from December 21, 1991?

[Det. Glover:] Yes.

[The State:] Had it been?

[Det. Glover:] There was nothing found?

(T. 791) Detective Glover also stated that he did not check to see if Richard Lee Brock was registered at the hotel. (T. 792) As Detective Glover never testified that Defendant had not registered at the hotel, he could not possibly have testified falsely regarding Defendant's registration at the hotel. Moreover, Defendant does not explain how the fact that he had another person with him when he registered at the hotel would have shown that Defendant was accompanied by another person at Ms. Cribbs' house earlier. As such, there is no reasonable probability that Defendant would not have been sentenced to death had this information been presented. See Strickland. The lower court properly denied this claim.

While Defendant asserts that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the introduction of the radio interview as irrelevant, the tape of the radio interview given by Defendant was relevant. During his closing argument before the jury, Defendant asserted an alternative theory of the crime. In the radio interview, he provided a few more details of this theory. The State introduced the interview to show that an investigation had been done into some of the allegation, and they had been found to be unsupported. As the interview was presented to provide a complete version of Defendant's new story, it was not irrelevant. Further, Defendant has not shown how the

introduction of a more complete version of his exculpatory theory would have cause a reasonable probability that he would have received a life sentence. See Strickland. As such, the lower court properly denied the claim.

The lower court also properly rejected the *Caldwell* claim. At the time comment was made and jury instruction was given, Defendant was representing himself. By representing himself, Defendant waived his right to claim ineffective assistance of counsel. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 834 n.46 (1975). As such, Defendant's claim that his counsel was ineffective at a time when he was not representing Defendant was properly summarily denied.

Even if counsel had been representing Defendant at the time this issue arose, this claim would still have properly been summarily denied. *Caldwell* claims and claims regarding ineffective assistance for failing to raise *Caldwell* issues are procedurally barred. *Oats v. Dugger*, 638 So. 2d 20, 21 & n.1 (Fla. 1994).

Moreover, as this Court noted in *Combs v. State*, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-58 (Fla. 1988), informing the jury that their recommendation regarding sentencing is advisory is a correct statement of Florida law. As the United States Supreme Court has held, "to establish a *Caldwell* violation, a defendant

necessarily must show that the remarks to the jury improperly described the role assigned to the jury under local law." Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989). As the comment and instructions properly informed the jury of its role under Florida law, any claim of a Caldwell violation is without merit. See Davis v. Singletary, 119 F.3d 1471, 1481-85 (1997). Therefore, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise this claim. See Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1995); see also Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494 (11th Cir. 1990). The claim was properly summarily denied.

The lower court also properly denied the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments by the prosecutor both before the jury and during the *Spencer* hearing that allegedly regarded future dangerousness aggravation. This issue was raised on direct appeal and rejected on its merits:

his final issue, Allen argues that improperly argued the nonstatutory aggravating factor of future dangerousness during the penalty phase before the jury and during sentencing proceeding before the judge. While arguing to the jury that the aggravating circumstance of "committed by a person under а sentence of imprisonment" applied in this case, the prosecutor reminded the jury that Allen had escaped from a work release facility in Kansas in 1990. The prosecutor also argued that "no form of control, whether it was probation or parole or prison or work release was adequate to take care of this defendant. Had he served out his term of years in Kansas at the time, this crime might not have been committed 13 months

later." Allen contends that the prosecutor was in essence arguing that he should be executed because he would escape from prison and kill again, which constitutes a nonstatutory aggravating factor that the sentencer may not consider. See Teffeteller v. State, 439 So. 2d 840, 845 (Fla. 1983) ("There is no place in our system of jurisprudence for [future dangerousness] argument."), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1074, 104 S. Ct. 1430, 79 L. Ed. 2d 754 (1984).

Initially, we note that this issue has not been preserved for appeal as the defense neither objected to the prosecutor's argument during either proceeding nor made a motion for mistrial. Parker, 456 So. 2d at 443. However, even if the issue of the prosecutor's argument to the jury had been preserved, it would have no merit. The prosecutor did not predict that Allen would murder again if he were sentenced to life imprisonment and paroled after twenty-five years, which is the type of argument that this Court condemned in Teffeteller, 439 So. 2d at 844-45. Instead, the prosecutor's comment in this case was very similar to the one that we found proper in Parker, 456 So. 2d at 443.

Even if defense counsel had preserved the issue of the prosecutor's argument during the sentencing proceeding, any error would be harmless in this case. The sentencing order specifically provides that the court's decision to impose the death sentence was based solely on the three statutory aggravating factors of committed by a person under a sentence of imprisonment, committed for pecuniary gain, and HAC. The order further provides that "[t]he Court did not allow any other aggravating factors to be argued to the jury and the Court finds that those aggravating factors do not exist or there was insufficient evidence in the record to support them."

Allen, 662 So. 2d at 331. As such, the claim is procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). The lower court properly denied it.

## VII. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM REGARDING THE JUROR INTERVIEWS.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in denying his claim that the Florida Bar Rules that prevent counsel from interviewing jurors are unconstitutional. However, the lower court properly found that this claim was procedurally barred and legally insufficient.

In his post conviction motion, Defendant asserted that the Florida Bar Rules that prohibited juror interviews were unconstitutional. (PCR. 840-41) However, Defendant did not allege any act of juror misconduct. *Id.* The lower court denied this claim as procedurally barred and facially insufficient, quoting from this Court's decision in *Arbelaez v. State*, 775 So. 2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000). (PCR. 1077-78)

In Arbelaez, this Court rejected a remarkably similar claim, stating:

The trial court did not address Arbelaez's claim that he was prohibited from interviewing the jurors. While we would normally send an unaddressed claim back for the trial court to rule upon, we conclude that remand on this issue is unnecessary because the claim is both procedurally barred and legally insufficient. Any claims relating to Arbelaez's inability to interview jurors should and could have been raised on direct appeal. See Smith. Furthermore, Arbelaez did not make a prima facie showing of any juror misconduct in his postconviction motion below. Instead, he appears to be complaining about a defendant's inability to conduct "fishing expedition" interviews

with the jurors after a guilty verdict is returned. Thus, even if the claim were not procedurally barred, Arbelaez would not be entitled to relief on the grounds he asserted and no evidentiary hearing was required on this claim.

Id. at 920 (footnotes omitted); accord Vining v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S654 (Fla. Jul. 3, 2002). As such, the lower court properly denied this claim as procedurally barred and legally insufficient.

# VIII. THE ISSUE REGARDING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE WAS WAIVED AND WAS PROPERLY REJECTED BY THE LOWER COURT.

Defendant next asserts that lower court improperly denied his claim that Florida's death penalty statute is constitutional. However, this issue has been waived because it is not adequately raised here. Moreover, the lower court properly found this claim to be procedurally barred and without merit.

In his brief, Defendant asserts in one sentence that the death penalty statute is unconstitutional:

As argued in Claim VIII of [Defendant's] motion for post conviction relief (PCR 857-60), Florida's capital sentencing statute fails to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty and deprives [Defendant] pf his right to due process of law and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment on its face and as applied.

Initial Brief at 65. Defendant does not even attempt to explain how or why the statute is allegedly unconstitutional and instead relies upon a reference to his motion in the lower court. However, as this Court held in Anderson v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S580 (Fla. Jun. 13, 2002), it is insufficient to reference a pleading filed below to raise an issue on appeal. As Defendant has not attempted to explain why the statute is allegedly unconstitutional in his brief, this issue has been

waived. See Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.").

Even if Defendant has sufficiently raised this issue, the lower court properly found the claim to be procedurally barred and without merit. This Court has held that issues regarding the constitutionality of the death penalty statute are issues that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Byrd v. State, 597 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1992). Moreover, the claim is entirely devoid of merit, as it has been repeatedly rejected by this Court. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647-48 (Fla. 1995); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 & n.5 (Fla. 1994); Fotopolus v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 & n.7 (Fla. 1992); Arango v. State, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla. 1982). The claim was properly denied.

#### IX. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM THAT POST CONVICTION COUNSEL WAS RENDERING INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE DUE TO A LACK OF FUNDING.

Defendant finally asserts that the lower court improperly denied his claim that his post conviction counsel was not rendering effective assistance because of underfunding. However, the lower court properly rejected this claim.

The State would first note that there is no constitutional right to effective representation by counsel in postconviction proceedings under either Florida or Federal law. Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1 (1989); Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551 (1987); Vining v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S654 (Fla. Jul. 3, 2002); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Even if such a right did exist, this Court denied a claim that CCRC-South was inadequately funded, as the legislature has remedied the alleged shortcomings. Arbelaez v. Butterworth, 738 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 1999). As such, the lower court properly denied this claim.

### X. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court should have granted him an evidentiary hearing on the alleged cumulative effect of the alleged errors. However, where the individual errors alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error also fails. Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999). As seen above, Defendant's individual claims are all procedurally barred or without merit. As such, the lower court properly denied the claim of cumulative error.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the denial of the motion for post conviction relief should be affirmed.